# UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA TAMPA DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,		
Plaintiff, v.		CASE NO.: 8:19-cv-02014
ARI LINETT,		
Defendant.	/	

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA'S COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION

Plaintiff, the United States of America ("United States"), through its undersigned counsel, hereby sues Defendant Ari Linett ("Defendant") and alleges as follows:

# **INTRODUCTION**

- 1. Starting as early as May 2018 and continuing to the present, Defendant has assisted and facilitated a predatory mail and wire fraud scheme that primarily victimizes senior citizens of the United States. Participants in the scheme contact potential victims, falsely claim that those victims have won the lottery, and thereby induce the victims to transmit money to Defendant to account for taxes and fees purportedly associated with victims' falsely promised lottery winnings.
- 2. The United States seeks to prevent continuing and substantial injury to victims of this fraudulent scheme by bringing this action for a permanent injunction and other equitable relief under 18 U.S.C. § 1345 to enjoin the ongoing commission of mail fraud and wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343.

#### JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 3. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 18 U.S.C. § 1345 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.
  - 4. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1).

#### **PARTIES**

- 5. Plaintiff is the United States.
- 6. Defendant is a resident of Riverview, Florida. Defendant engaged, and continues to engage, in the conduct described in this Complaint from within the Middle District of Florida.

## FRAUDULENT SCHEME

- 7. Since at least as early as May 2018, Defendant has assisted and facilitated a fraud scheme by accepting victim payments and providing participants of the scheme with access to those payments.
- 8. Operators of the fraud scheme engage in a lottery scam. Callers associated with the fraud scheme contact victims, who often are senior citizens, and falsely claim that the victims have won the lottery. Typically, the callers then tell the victim that he or she needs to wire or otherwise transmit money to pay for fees and/or taxes allegedly associated with winning the lottery. These claims are false and fraudulent, as the members of the scheme know the victim has not won the lottery and that there is no need for the victim to wire fees and/or taxes associated with winning the lottery.
- 9. Since at least May 2018, victims have been harmed by the fraudulent scheme facilitated by Defendant. Defendant plays a critical role in the scheme by receiving victim payments (cash and money orders) by mail, RIA (a Walmart money transfer service), and wire transfer into her bank accounts, and then sending the payments to individuals in Jamaica engaged in the scheme. Defendant sent the payments to Jamaica and to other individuals located in the

United States and associated with the scheme by RIA, MoneyGram, and wire transfer from bank accounts established in her name.

Order to Cease and Desist her participation in the fraudulent lottery scheme pursuant to 39 U.S.C. § 3005. Despite agreeing to this order, Defendant continues to assist and facilitate the fraud scheme. Between September 2018 and March 2019, Defendant was the intended recipient of at least four packages sent to her via U.S. mail that are believed to have contained money from elderly lottery scam victims, and received money into her bank account from one of the same victims.

#### **DEFENDANT'S KNOWLEDGE OF FRAUD**

11. Upon information and belief, the United States alleges that Defendant has knowledge that her conduct facilitates a mail and wire fraud scheme.

#### HARM TO VICTIMS

- 12. Victims suffer financial losses from the mail and wire fraud scheme facilitated by Defendant.
  - 13. The scheme disproportionately affects elderly victims.
- 14. Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendant's conduct will continue to cause injury to victims.

# <u>COUNT I</u> (18 U.S.C. § 1345 – Injunctive Relief)

- 15. The United States re-alleges and incorporates by reference Paragraphs 1 through 14 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.
- 16. By reason of the conduct described herein, Defendant violated, is violating, and is about to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343 by facilitating a scheme and artifice to defraud and

obtain money or property by means of false or fraudulent representations with the intent to defraud, and, in so doing, use the United States mails and interstate or foreign wire communications.

- 17. Upon a showing that Defendant is committing or about to commit mail or wire fraud, the United States is entitled, under 18 U.S.C. § 1345, to seek a permanent injunction restraining all future fraudulent conduct and to any other action that this Court deems just and proper to prevent a continuing and substantial injury to victims.
- 18. As a result of the foregoing, the Court should enjoin Defendant's conduct under 18 U.S.C. § 1345.

#### **PRAYER FOR RELIEF**

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, United States of America, requests of the Court the following relief:

- A. That the Court issue a permanent injunction, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345, ordering that Defendant is restrained from engaging, participating, or assisting in any lottery scam or money transmitting business; and
- B. That the Court order such other and further relief as the Court shall deem just and proper.

Dated: August 14, 2019 Respectfully Submitted,

MARIA CHAPA LOPEZ UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

/s/ Lacy R. Harwell, Jr.
LACY R. HARWELL, JR.
Assistant United States Attorney
Florida Bar No. 714623
Chief, Civil Division
United States Attorney's Office
Middle District of Florida
400 North Tampa St. – Suite 3200
Tampa, Florida 33602
Telephone: 813-301-3008

Facsimile: 813-274-6200 E-mail: randy.harwell@usdoj.gov

GUSTAV W. EYLER Director Consumer Protection Branch

VINCENT T. SHULER Assistant Director Consumer Protection Branch

#### /s/ Linda I. Marks

LINDA I. MARKS
Senior Litigation Counsel
Consumer Protection Branch
United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 386
Washington, D.C. 20044

Telephone: (202) 307-0060 Facsimile: (202) 514-8742 E-mail: linda.marks@usdoj.gov

### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

I certify that on August 14, 2019, I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk by using the CM/ECF system. I further certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing by first-class mail to the following non-CM/ECF participant:

Ari Linett 6410 Hollydale Pl., Unit 201 Riverview, FL 33578

s/ Linda I. Marks

Linda I. Marks Senior Litigation Counsel Consumer Protection Branch U.S. Department of Justice

# 

JS 44 (Rev. 02/19)

# **CIVIL COVER SHEET**

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS				DEFENDANTS		, <del>.</del>			
United States of America			Ari Linett						
(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)				County of Residence of First Listed Defendant  (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)  NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.					
(c) Attomeys (Firm Name, Linda I. Marks, Senior Lif Consumer Protection Bra 202-307-0060	Address, and Telephone Numbe ligation Counsel, U.S. anch, P.O. Box 386, W	r) Department of Just /ashington, D.C. 20	ice, 0044;	Attorneys (If Known)					
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in C	ne Box Only)	III. CI	TIZENSHIP OF P	RINCIPA	L PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff		
<b>ૐ</b> 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	□ 3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party)			(For Diversity Cases Only)  PTF DEF  en of This State  and One Box for Defendant)  PTF DEF  Incorporated or Principal Place  of Business In This State					
O 2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizensh	ip of Parties in Item III)	Citize	en of Another State	2 🗇 2	Incorporated and I of Business In A			
				en or Subject of a  reign Country	3 🗇 3	Foreign Nation	<b>0</b> 6 <b>0</b> 6		
IV. NATURE OF SUIT			T 50				of Suit Code Descriptions.		
CONTRACT  ☐ 110 Insurance ☐ 120 Marine ☐ 130 Miller Act ☐ 140 Negotiable Instrument ☐ 150 Recovery of Overpayment	PERSONAL INJURY  ☐ 310 Airplane ☐ 315 Airplane Product Liability ☐ 320 Assault, Libel &	PERSONAL INJURY  365 Personal Injury - Product Liability  367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability  368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability  PERSONAL PROPER  370 Other Fraud  371 Truth in Lending  380 Other Personal Property Damage Product Liability  PERSONAL PROPER  376 Other Fraud  379 Other Fraud  370 Other Personal Property Damage Product Liability  PRISONER PETITION  Habeas Corpus:  463 Alien Detainee  510 Motions to Vacate Sentence  530 General  535 Death Penalty  Other:  540 Mandamus & Othe  550 Civil Rights  555 Prison Condition  560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement	TY	DRFEITURE/PENALTY 5 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881 0 Other  Description of Pair Labor Standards Act Labor/Management Relations O Railway Labor Act Family and Medical Leave Act Other Labor Litigation Employee Retirement Income Security Act  IMMIGRATION 2 Naturalization Application Other Immigration Actions	HAN	RECURITY (1395ff) c Lung (923) C/DIWW (405(g))	OTHER STATUTES  □ 375 False Claims Act □ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) □ 400 State Reapportionment □ 410 Antitrust □ 430 Banks and Banking □ 450 Commerce □ 460 Deportation □ 470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations □ 480 Consumer Credit □ 485 Telephone Consumer Protection Act □ 490 Cable Sat TV □ 850 Securities Commodities Exchange		
	noved from	Appellate Court	J 4 Reins Reop	ened Anothe	r District	☐ 6 Multidistr Litigation Transfer			
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	N Brief description of ca			o not cite jurisdictional state	utes unless di	versity);			
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	CHECK IF THIS UNDER RULE 2	IS A CLASS ACTION		EMAND \$		HECK YES only URY DEMAND:	if demanded in complaint:		
VIII. RELATED CASE IF ANY	C(S) (See instructions):	JUDGE			DOCKE	T NUMBER			
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY	18,2019	SIGNATURE OF ATT	ORNEY O	FRECORDINAL .	D.M	acks			
20 <del>5</del> .%	10UNT	APPLYING IFP		JUDGE		MAG. JUD	OGE		